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Presenter
Presentation Notes
Historic Wallingford member John, will provide background on how this project came about. 

Please note that we are recording this meeting.
Panelists, please keep your video turned off except when presenting or speaking.  
With that, welcome to the second of two public meetings related to the development of this National Register Historic District nomination. 
The goal of this meeting is to share the draft nomination and background. 
We will address questions specific to the nomination at the end.



Sponsored by 
Historic 
Wallingford.

Funded through a 
4Culture 
Preservation 
Special Projects 
Grant and by 
Historic 
Wallingford.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The project is sponsored by Historic Wallingford.
Historic Wallingford received a 4Culture Preservation Special Projects Grant to support broader demographic analysis and informational maps drawing on Census records from 1910 through 1940.  
Funding for the National Register nomination preparation comes from Historic Wallingford.
This work would not have been possible without the countless hours spent by volunteers conducting field work, setting up and maintaining the project database, conducting archival research, and digitizing the census records. 



National Register 
of Historic Places
Districts – Sites – Buildings – Structures – Objects

Presenter
Presentation Notes
As a brief introduction, the National Register of Historic Places “is the official Federal list of districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects significant in American history, architecture, archaeology, engineering, and culture.” 
To qualify for listing a property must possess historic significance (have a story to tell) and integrity (be able to physically convey that story).  
A district possesses a significant concentration, linkage, or continuity of sites, buildings, structures, or objects united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical development.



National 
Register 

Criteria for 
Evaluation

A. Be associated with important events 
that have contributed significantly to 
the broad pattern of our history; or
B. Be associated with the lives of 
persons significant in our past; or
C. Embody the distinctive 
characteristics of a type, period or 
method of construction; or represent 
the work of a master; or possess high 
artistic values; or represent a 
significant and distinguishable entity 
whose components may lack individual 
distinction; or
D. Have yielded, or may be likely to 
yield, information important in 
prehistory or history

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The 4 criteria used in evaluation are:

A. Be associated with important events that have contributed significantly to the broad pattern of our history; or
B. Be associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or
C. Embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period or method of construction; or represent the work of a master; or possess high artistic values; or represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction; or
D. Have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history

It’s important to note the last portion of criterion C -- Resources "that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction" are called "districts." Not every property within a district must be architecturally significant.

The Wallingford-Meridian Streetcar Historic District is significant under National Register Criteria A and C at the local level of significance in the areas of Architecture and Community Planning and Development.





Integrity

• Location
• Setting
• Design
• Materials
• Workmanship
• Feeling
• Association

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The 7 aspects of integrity evaluated are:
Location
Setting
Design
Materials
Workmanship
Feeling
Association




DistrictWallingford – Meridian Streetcar

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The boundary for the historic district is shown with the bold black line on the map and encompasses the area shaped by the underlying plats and unique connection to three streetcar lines during the period of significance, and through the duration of most of the construction within the historic district.



PLATS

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The following plats establish the distinct organizational framework for roads, blocks, and lots within the historic district. 

These plats, located at the then north edge of the city, benefited from proximity to the streetcar line along Interlake Avenue N at the west edge of the historic district, along with the Meridian Line a half block south of the district along N and NE 45th Street, as well as proximity to places of employment. 

Their distinguishing characteristics of block and lot sizes and near absence of alleys reflect the multiple development influences shaping the spatial character of the historic district, and the transitional role of the 1891 Baltimore Addition between the west and east platting patterns. 



Period of 
Significance
1900 to 1936

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The period of significance ties in with historic events in the neighborhood as well as physical construction of buildings and transportation networks. 

Period of significance is the length of time when a property was associated with important events, activities, or persons, or attained the characteristics which qualify it for National Register listing. 
Period of significance usually begins with the date when significant activities or events began giving the property its historic significance; this is often a date of construction. 





1900-1936

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The period spans from 1900 to 1936, beginning with the construction date of the oldest extant property within the district, 4532 Corliss Avenue N, built ca. 1900 and shown in the left photograph.
And ends in 1936, the last year streetcars were the only public transit form serving the district. 
Streetcar lines accessing the district began to switch to motorized buses and trackless trolleys beginning in 1937; a transition completed throughout the city by 1944. 



Period of Significance
1900 to 1936

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Most of the construction within the historic district occurred within the period of significance as shown in this map.




Residential 
Development
Single and Multiple Family

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Single and multiple family residential buildings comprise a defining characteristic of the historic district reflecting architectural styles and kit houses popular in the Pacific Northwest during the first decades of the twentieth century. 
The building forms, styles, and associated garages convey the pattern of development and density associated with a period of intense growth in the city. 



Residential

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This map shows current use patterns within the district. 
Single-family are shown in purple and are the majority use.
Multiple family are shown in red and are the next most numerous use within the district. 

The dark green building footprints identify single family conversions to multiple family.



Single Family

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Houses in the older 1880s and 1890s plats in the west and central portion of the historic district span multiple lots while houses in the east portion platted in the 1900s typically reside within a single lot. 
 
Houses throughout the historic district orient towards the street with a narrow front yard and modest to large back yards depending on house size. Houses are typically centered within their respective parcel(s) or placed with a narrow set back between adjacent buildings characteristic of a denser urban setting.
 
Due to the near absence of alleys, garages occur both in front of and behind houses.  

Single family house conversions to multiple family dwellings both within and outside the period of significance provided an important mechanism for increasing density within the historic district. Census records from 1910 through 1940 indicate conversions within the period of significance started between 1910 and 1920, increasing households to two or more for multiple houses within the district. 
  
Building forms are single family and include more affordable and efficiently built forms such as workingman’s foursquare, American Foursquare, or bungalow. The single-family forms relate to the prevailing styles employed in the neighborhood during the period of significance, national and city-wide housing trends, and the role of middle-income home buyers in purchasing houses within the historic district. 
   
Building materials are primarily wood, with wood frame construction, wood windows, siding, trim, and porch and stoop elements. Brick and stucco are less common and mostly seen on chimneys. 



Multiple Family

• Low-rise 
apartment blocks
• Courtyard 
apartments
• Duplex
• Single-family 
converted to 
multiple family

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Multiple family buildings within the historic district are generally located behind the commercial core along N and NE 45th Street with recent multiple family buildings also extending along Interlake Avenue N. 
  
The five low-rise apartment blocks within the historic district are apartment buildings two to three stories tall with a single, primary entrance for tenants and guests. They are built out to or near the lot lines and span multiple lots and are oriented towards the street. Each unit typically has its own kitchen and bathroom, with units accessed from interior corridors. The main entry and lobby are often highlighted with a high level of ornamentation that is in line with the overall architectural style of the building. Most of these buildings have their own dedicated automobile garage located behind the building. These buildings reflect a moderate to high level of investment and were a popular multiple family building form prior to World War II. 
 
Building design and materials reflect the characteristics of the early use of the Tudor Revival style. Building materials are wood frame with brick veneer with some stucco cladding, wood windows, and wood stoop elements (entrances, surrounds). Alterations have introduced some vinyl and aluminum windows.  
 
The courtyard type apartment within the historic district, see in the lower left photo, unlike the low-rise apartment blocks, does not have interior corridors. The apartment consists of two one and a half story buildings arranged around a courtyard with eight living units per building, each with their own kitchen and bathroom. Each unit has front door access and a back door to the central courtyard and parking. Garages are separate and located behind the buildings. The buildings have an L-shape plan, span multiple lots and are set back 10 feet from the property line similar to surrounding single family dwellings. A central driveway between the two buildings provides access to the courtyard and two 7-car parking garages. 
  
The duplex (flats) building within the historic district, upper right photograph, is two stories with separate entrances for each of the living units. The single example is 4546 4th Avenue NE (built ca. 1923). The building exhibits the same physical features and setback as single-family dwellings within the district.
 




Architectural 
Styles
1900 to 1936

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The application and often interpretation by contractor/builders of architectural styles convey prevailing nation and city-wide trends at the time of construction, in addition to adaptations to the socio-economic conditions of building owners and the targeted middle-income homebuyer. 
The high volume of buildings designed in the Craftsman Classical Revival styles shapes the visual characteristics of the historic district. Colonial Revival (inclusive Dutch Colonial Revival), and Tudor Revival hold a secondary role in shaping the architectural character of the historic district. 




Craftsman • 305 extant buildings
• 1905, start of first large scale use with 

16 buildings completed in the style
• Use peaked between 1909 and 1916

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Craftsman style is the most common style used within the historic district with 305 extant buildings using the style. The first large scale use of the style occurred in 1905 with 16 buildings completed. Following a brief drop over the next two years, use of the style peaked between 1909 and 1916. Following another brief lull, the style returned to popularity between 1918 and 1922. Use of the style, based on extant buildings, tapered off to just one building built per year in the late 1920s and by 1929 was no longer in use. 
 
The Craftsman style is the first major architectural style movement that originated on the West Coast. It dominated residential architecture from 1905 until the 1930s throughout the country. The Craftsman style embraced the idea that design should suggest the labor of a master craftsman, so design elements associated with it are often derived from structural elements of the building. This style relies heavily on showing exposed framing and bracing, heaviness of design elements such as box posts, low-pitched roofs, and asymmetrical facades. Wood is the primary exterior cladding material, with river cobble, stone, or brick utilized on porch supports and chimneys. The popularity of the Craftsman and its associated bungalow form spread—both locally and nationally—with the publication of plan books like Jud Yoho’s Craftsman Bungalows (1916). 

Good examples include: 4903 Burke Avenue N (built ca. 1925), 4517 Latona Avenue NE (built ca. 1925), 1905 N 47th Street (built ca. 1922), and 4616 Meridian Avenue N (built ca. 1911).  Examples in photos are in bold.
 




Classical Revival • 106 extant buildings 
• Came into use as part of the first 

buildings built
• Peaked in use between 1906 and 1912

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Classical Revival style with 106 extant buildings showcasing the style is the second most common style used within the district. The style came into use within the district as part of the first buildings built in the early 1900s and peaked in use between 1906 and 1912. A brief burst followed in 1915 with use of the style ceasing in use 1924 except for an outlier use in 1930. 
 
Classical Revival is a transitional architectural style popular during the early decades of the 20th century, incorporating Classical details on bungalows, foursquares, and workingman’s foursquares. These classical details include cornice or eave returns, classical columns or pillars, and modillions. Classical Revival houses may lack the symmetry that is typically seen on Colonial Revival buildings. 

Good examples include: 1710 N 47th Street (built ca. 1912), 4540 Latona Avenue NE (built ca. 1912), and 2120 N 46th Street (built ca. 1911). 




Colonial Revival and 
Dutch Colonial Revival

• 51 extant Colonial Revival style buildings
• 28 extant Dutch Colonial Revival style buildings

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Colonial Revival style saw moderate use within the district with 51 extant buildings built in the style. Use of the style within the district started by 1910, but was not consistent in popularity, with 1 to 3 buildings built each year followed by zero use of the style for a couple of years, then another 1 to 3 buildings built in the style. Use of the style peaked between 1919 and 1925 with 12 built in 1924. 
 
Colonial Revival has been a popular architectural style in the United States, particularly on residential buildings. Colonial Revival houses imitate, but do not directly copy, the Federal- and Georgian-style buildings constructed during the United States’ early years. Colonial Revival houses typically feature symmetrical main facades, double-hung windows, side gabled or hipped roofs, cornices with dentils or modillions, and prominent front entrances that may feature sidelights, fanlights, pediments, and columned porches or porticos. Colonial Revival houses may be two to two and a half stories or may be single-story bungalows. 

The Dutch Colonial Revival style, a subtype of Colonial Revival was used on 28 extant buildings within the historic district. Based on extant buildings, use of the style within the historic district started by 1905 and continued as 1 to 2 buildings built in the style every couple of years. Use of the style peaked between 1920 and 1923 with 18 built and then ceased in use after 1924. 
 
The Dutch Colonial Revival style draws on late eighteenth and early nineteenth century Dutch Colonial architecture from former Dutch colonies on the East Coast. In practice within the historic district, the style generally applies to a Colonial Revival style buildings with a gambrel roof. Wood is the primary exterior cladding material, with multi-lite double hung windows. 





Tudor Revival • Single and multiple family use
• 29 extant buildings built in style
• Style use peaked between 1925 and 

1929

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Tudor Revival style was used on 29 extant buildings within the district. Based on extant buildings, use of the style started by 1906 and continued with 1 to 2 buildings built in the style every couple of years. Use of the style peaked between 1925 and 1929, with some additional buildings completed in 1930, 1932, and 1936. 
 
The Tudor Revival style loosely interprets the decorative elements of the Jacobean and Elizabethan buildings of the of late Medieval period in England and typically feature a dominant cross-gable on the front facade, steeply pitched roofs, decorative half-timbering, tall narrow windows (often grouped), and massive chimneys. Gable details, patterned brickwork, and round or Tudor arches are also hallmarks of this style. Tudor Revival is a variation of Eclectic Revival; other variations include the Swiss Chalet Revival, Mission Revival, and Spanish Eclectic. 



District 
Integrity
Location, Design, Setting, Materials, Workmanship, Feeling, 
and Association

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The historic district exhibits integrity showcasing buildings constructed in a variety of styles within the period of significance. 




Integrity

Design Setting

Materials Workmanship

Feeling Association

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The green building footprints in the three maps show buildings with intact plans, windows, and cladding. The dark blue are buildings with extensive changes. 
 
The location and design and communicate the interrelated development pattern of historic contributing buildings and the underlying plats. 
 
The setting around the historic district has changed with the growth of the neighborhood’s commercial corridor along N and NE 45th Streets transitioning single family buildings to commercial use and replacing them with low-rise commercial buildings. Commercial development along Stone Way N replaced single family dwellings along the street. 
 
Within the historic district, the landscape character is consistent with early 20th century residential subdivisions. 
 
The district retains integrity of materials and workmanship. Most buildings retain key exterior cladding and window materials related to their original construction. 
  
The historic district retains a remarkable historic feeling and association. The main architectural styles utilized in the historic district remain evident to provide a cohesive identity. 



Resource 
Status
Contributing and Noncontributing

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Contributing buildings are those built within the period of significance that retain integrity and convey the historical associations for which the district is historically significant.
Noncontributing are those buildings built outside the period of significance or have experienced substantial alterations to their exterior visual character. 




Status 50-years or older as of 
2021

Built within period of 
significance (1900-1936)

One or less 
extensive 
changes

Historic, Contributing Yes Yes Yes

Historic, non-contributing Yes Yes No

Non-historic, non-contributing Yes/No No N/A

Extensive Window Changes Extensive Cladding Changes Extensive Plan Changes

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Part of the work in preparing the nomination was looking at each building to evaluate the level of window, cladding, and plan changes. 

This assessment occurred from the public right of way since the visual character evident when walking or driving along the streets is the measure of the integrity of feeling within the historic district. 




Status

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This map shows in dark blue the contributing buildings.

Noncontributing buildings are shown in yellow.



History
Wallingford & Wallingford-Meridian Streetcar Historic District

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Now we’re into the significance statement portion of the National Register nomination – which is the history section. We’ll outline how Wallingford and the district developed in the next several slides, but first we’re going to go over the summary significance statement of the district and which National Register criteria we’re looking at. 



Significance
Criteria A and C
“Streetcar Suburb” under the multiple property listing “Historic 
Residential Suburbs in the United States, 1830—1960”

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The Wallingford-Meridian Streetcar Historic District is significant under National Register Criteria A and C at the local level of significance in the areas of Architecture and Community Planning and Development, for the period of 1900 to 1936. This begins in 1900 with the construction of the oldest extant property within the district and ends in 1936, the last year streetcars were the only public transit form serving the district. Streetcar lines accessing the district began to switch to motorized buses and trackless trolleys beginning in 1937; a transition completed throughout the city by 1944. Furthermore, the historic district is significant as a “Streetcar Suburb” under the multiple property listing “Historic Residential Suburbs in the United States, 1830—1960.”

The district is a residential neighborhood of contiguous residential subdivisions that are interrelated by their cohesive design. The majority of the properties constructed within the district were built after the arrival of the streetcar lines in the area and were in fact advertised for their proximity to public transit. The street features (e.g. street widths, lack of alleys), mix of popular architectural styles, predominance of kit houses, and the clustering of apartment buildings on blocks closest to transit lines and the business district reflect this subtype of suburb.
 
The district is significant under Criterion A as it represents residential development in Seattle spurred largely by population growth and the availability of less expensive land outside the city center accessible via streetcar lines. The historic district is significant under Criterion as the district reflects a period of intense growth in the city of Seattle and contains a wide variety of architectural styles and kit houses popular in the Pacific Northwest during the first decades of the twentieth century. 






Presenter
Presentation Notes
The area that would become Wallingford was largely wooded until the late nineteenth century, when development began primarily along the northern shores of Lake Union. This area shaded in gray on the screen was incorporated within the City of Seattle in 1891. The annexation launched platting activity between Lake Union and Green Lake although development did not immediately follow. Between 1890 until 1900, the area becoming Wallingford was considered quite affordable in comparison to prices in Queen Anne and Capitol Hill neighborhoods. A 1900 advertisement of real estate for sale indicated an entire block of 20 lots in the historic district’s Lake Union 2nd Addition were priced at $1,200 while two lots in Queen Anne were listed for $1,100,  and three lots near 20th Avenue and E Madison Street on Capitol Hill were listed as “cheap” for $750.





Presenter
Presentation Notes
Despite the intense platting activity of the 1880s and 1890s, the area remained sparsely developed the further north from the shores of Lake Union one traveled. By 1901 the Green Lake streetcar line extended north from downtown and Lake Union and looped around Green Lake. This line jogged to the east along N 45th Street to run north along Interlake Avenue N, the historic district’s west edge. Real estate classifieds then advertised lots in the Lake Union 2nd Addition for their proximity to the new Green Lake line. 

The map on your screen is from a 1905 real estate atlas and shows approximately 70 buildings in the area. You can see the platted areas – and the yellow building outlines. You can also see there were still large areas of acreage that hadn’t been platted yet. During the first several years of the 20th century, development in the greater area included the construction of Interlake School in 1904, a half block from the district’s southern boundary, providing education access further north demonstrating the population starting to grow in the area. 




Non-residential Growth

Presenter
Presentation Notes
In addition to the residences constructed, the Home of the Good Shepherd was established in 1907 within the district. St. Benedict Parish was founded in the area in 1906 and began meeting in the district in 1907 . Lincoln High School opened in 1907 just outside the district, providing additional nearby education access for residents.



Streetcars
Green Lake – Meridian - Wallingford

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The arrival of multiple streetcar lines in the neighborhood stimulated additional platting and both residential and commercial construction in the area. The ease of access to the growing neighborhood also increased real estate prices. 

The Wallingford Avenue Line began service in January 1907, followed by the Meridian line in July 1908. The Meridian Line was extended in 1909. 

In 1909, the University of Washington hosted the Alaska-Yukon-Pacific Exposition and residents from Wallingford could easily ride the streetcar line to the university district. 

Other developments in the first decades of the 1900s were the establishment of the Seattle Gas Light Company on Lake Union in 1906 and dredging the canal to connect Lake Washington, Lake Union, and Puget Sound between 1911 and 1917.




Residential Growth

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The historic district’s location made it and the larger Wallingford neighborhood an ideal location for new construction in the quickly growing city. It was located on the main east–west thoroughfare between Ballard and Fremont to the west and the University District to the east. And it also adjoined the  the North Trunk Highway (or Aurora Avenue) to the west.

Intense construction occurred in the area between 1905 and 1910, with four plats filed in the course of four years. The lots were advertised for their low price, views towards Lake Union and the University of Washington, and proximity to the university campus. Daniels’ University Grove advertised its lots as fronting the Meridian streetcar line and for its close proximity to the university and area schools. These new plats, plus the establishment of neighborhood amenities and improvements, spurred on residential construction in the neighborhood. 




Presenter
Presentation Notes
In the midst of the historic district’s growth, the City of Seattle established the Seattle Zoning Commission in 1920. The commission began surveying the city to report to City Council on a recommended zoning or districting ordinance. Prior to this survey, there were a series of building ordinances that predominately focused on fire prevention and established “classes” of buildings, based on construction materials and techniques. The city was divided into building districts, which outlined which classes of buildings (not use) were allowed in each district. After the Zoning Commission completed their survey, City Council adopted Ordinance 45382 in 1923, which divided the city into districts and rather than just focusing on building materials, began also regulating the use, heights, and size of buildings, and restricting the location of trades and industries. The 1923 Zoning Ordinance largely documented existing uses – or at least building typology. Since we know that while the historic district had many residences constructed in single family form, the ordinance did not take into account single family residences used by multiple families.

Over 75-percent of the historic district was constructed in or prior to 1923 when Ordinance 45382 was adopted. The land within the historic district was classified as within a First Residence zone with the exception of the Home of the Good Shepherd, which was classified as a Second Residence zone. First Residence districts allowed the following uses:
Single family dwellings
Public schools 
Private schools – i.e., schools with prescribed courses of study given and graded in a manner similar to public schools or are of a higher degree
Churches
Parks and playgrounds (including park buildings)
Art gallery or library building
Private conservatories for plants or flowers
Railroad and shelter stations




Presenter
Presentation Notes
After the zoning ordinance was passed, the Wallingford Commercial Club began to petition the Zoning Commission to rezone part of the neighborhood to allow for additional apartment construction in blocks adjacent 45th Street. Apartment buildings within the historic district were built between 1925 and 1929 and align with this effort to support increased density adjacent the commercial core. By 1930, most of the available lots in the historic district had been built out and streetlights lit portions of the neighborhood. 

The community also petitioned for additional access to downtown, wanting a new high bridge over the ship canal, rather than another draw bridge. Those efforts succeeded when the Aurora Avenue Bridge opened in 1932. In the midst of bridge construction, Seattle City Council approved an extension of the Aurora Avenue highway through Woodland Park, which opened in 1933. 

The completion of the highway along the west edge of Wallingford made the neighborhood more physically accessible, however, it spurred a shift in transportation away from the streetcars that had shaped the early development of both Wallingford and the historic district. Highway access to the neighborhood, along with the steady increase in personal automobile ownership and use, altered the landscape of the neighborhood and led to the decline and, ultimately, the end of streetcar traffic to and through the district and neighborhood. 




Presenter
Presentation Notes
In the midst of these transportation changes and the Great Depression, the historic district had an over 10-percent increase in the number of rental households, from 22-percent of houses in the district occupied by renters in 1920 to 33-percent in 1930. This contrasts with the city-wide rental rate of just under 50% of dwelling units occupied by renters. 

The U.S. Government had been encouraging home ownership to middle class families for years, but it still remained out of financial reach for most urban and working-class families and individuals. This is because banks often required a 50-percent down payment, interest only payments, and repayment in full after 5-7 years. Under FDR, the Home Owners’ Loan Corporation (HOLC) was established in 1933, which purchased mortgages on the brink of foreclosure and issued new mortgages with longer repayment schedules and payments that included both principal and interest. The HOLC had lower interest rates and required borrowers to maintain regular payment schedules, so the HOLC was concerned about the risk of borrowers defaulting on their loans. The HOLC incorporated an appraisal process in its lending practices, requiring an assessment of the house for which the loan was being taken out, condition of the surrounding neighborhood, and neighborhood demographics, including race. They created color-coded (or redlined) maps to demonstrate the “risk” associated with loans in particular neighborhoods. Higher risk levels corresponded with areas having greater numbers of people of color and lower incomes. 
 
Congress then passed the National Housing Act of 1934, establishing the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) which insured bank mortgages. The FHA continued the exclusionary practices of the HOLC in its appraisal process. The FHA determined that properties were too risky to insure if they were in racially mixed neighborhoods or even in white neighborhoods near black ones because they could possibly integrate in the future. These practices encouraged the establishment of racially restrictive covenants to prevent neighborhoods from being “redlined.” Although it does not appear there were any formal restrictive covenants in the historic district, it is clear that de facto segregation was at play in Wallingford. Few if any individuals of color resided within the boundaries of the district and the Wallingford area received a “B” or “still desirable” ranking on the 1936 residential security map. There were descriptions of varying lengths for each area on the maps and the one in which the historic district is located stated this:  
 
The residents are practically 100% American of moderate means, with annual incomes of $1500 to $3000. The homes are both modern and seem-modern in type, with a sprinkling of old-style residents. The district is predominately residential in character and densely settled. It is a very popular district to desirable tenants and the permanent type of home owners. The residences are being maintained in from fair to good conditions.

In running those annual incomes through an inflation calculator, the $1500 to $3000 in 1936 would be about $30,000 to $60,000 in today’s dollars. Areas with an “A” rating had incomes of $3000 to $10,000 per year, which would be $60,000 to $400,000 in today’s dollars. 



Courtesy Seattle Now & ThenCourtesy Dick’s Drive-In

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The popularity of the automobile was apparent by the mid-1930s as the streetcar lines began to be replaced by buses. Discussion around updating the city’s transit system began in the 1920s, as the municipal railway system had substantial debt. These conversations gained traction in the 1930s and trackless trolley and bus routes began to replace the older street car lines. The Green Lake Line was replaced by buses in 1937, followed by the Wallingford Line in 1940, and the Meridian Line in 1941. The transition to electric or motorized buses was completed in 1941 when the last streetcar ran in the city.

The automobile increasingly shaped the physical character of the commercial core along the south edge of the historic district and the surrounding Wallingford neighborhood in the post-WWII era. The commercial district began to increasingly cater to auto-oriented rather than pedestrian-oriented shopping and traffic. A Safeway Store was constructed at 2205 N 45th Street  in 1941 adjacent the historic district, with an associated parking lot, reflecting the desire of customers to drive to the store. 

The status of N and NE 45th Street as an auto thoroughfare was cemented with the construction of Dick’s Drive-in in 1954—their first stand in an expanding local chain of restaurants.





Courtesy Seattle Now & Then

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Land use, transportation, and population changes in the surrounding Wallingford and Seattle neighborhoods impacted the historic district in the 1950s, 60s, and 70s. And the financial losses of Boeing, a prime industry in Seattle, in 1971 sent a ripple effect of population and income decline through the city, neighborhood, and historic district.  
 
City Council adopted a new city land use ordinance in 1957, repealing the 1923 ordinance. It regulated use, height, size, location, and parking for buildings and structures, and emphasized the importance of stable property values. This reinforced the effects of ongoing exclusionary lending practices, and put into policy the exclusionary priority given to single family housing. Greater flexibility in property use was allowed for within the 1923 Zoning Ordinance, but severely limited with the 1957 Zoning Ordinance and associated Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Interstate 5 through Seattle opened in 1965 along the district's eastern edge, restricting Wallingford’s access to the University District, which had originally been a selling feature in the neighborhood’s infancy. The ease of access to freeways, with Aurora Avenue/Highway 99 to the west and Interstate 5 to the east, made shopping outside of the neighborhood easier for residents.
 
Residential construction remained minimal in the historic district during the post-war years with a handful of apartment buildings constructed. As enrollment boomed at the university, the campus faced a severe housing shortage, and the value of Wallingford’s proximity to the University of Washington reemerged. Developers and property managers looked to surrounding neighborhoods to house students. Many single-family houses in Wallingford’s neighborhood were converted to duplexes. Property owners within the neighborhood pushed back against this effort, seeking to retain the single-family land use.  
 
The natural gas plant on the northern shores of Lake Union closed in 1956. Other closures in the district and the surrounding neighborhood included Interlake School as an elementary school in 1972, Home of the Good Shepherd in 1973, and Lincoln High School in 1981. The closure of these key institutions threatened to destabilize the neighborhood and district, but preservation and revitalization efforts turned many of these potential loses into gains for the district. 
 
Historic Seattle took over the Home of the Good Shepherd site in 1976 and began operating it as the Good Shepherd Center, as a multi-purpose community center, housing non-profit organizations, schools, small businesses, and a senior center. 
 
In 1962, the City of Seattle agreed to purchase the former natural gas plant and began the decade long process of remediating the site to convert it into a public park. Landscape architecture firm Richard Haag Associates was hired to formulate the design and master plan for the site. Gas Works Park opened in 1975 and remains a draw to the greater Wallingford neighborhood. The Interlake School was leased to a developer in 1982 who rehabilitated it and converted it to a mixed-use building with retail, restaurant, and residential spaces. The Interlake School is now known as Wallingford Center. 
 
In the 1990s, city planning introduced the urban village concept and a portion of the district was designated as an urban village (west of Sunnyside Avenue N, excluding the Good Shepherd Center and Meridian Playground). The Wallingford Neighborhood Plan (1994) noted rising real estate prices and property taxes for the neighborhood as it once again became an increasingly desirable place to live. The residential trends of the 1950s through 1970s were reversed by the 1990s after the key redevelopment projects were completed. High density residential construction has increased within the last two decades along the south and west edges of the historic district.  




National 
Register
Frequently Asked Questions
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Since this is a National Register historic district nomination, we wanted to talk through the differences between a Seattle Landmark District and a National Register historic district and to highlight the community benefit of National Register designation. 



FAQS
NATIONAL 

REGISTER HISTORIC 
DISTRICT

SEATTLE 
LANDMARK 

DISTRICT
Will listing protect the building from demolition? No Yes
Once listed, will design review be required for exterior 
alterations?

No Yes

Does listing require owner consent? No Yes
Will listing recognize the property’s significance? Yes Yes
Will listing inform local planning and heritage education? Yes Yes
Does listing provide review federally funded or licensed 
projects?

Yes Yes

Are property owners of historic buildings able to receive free 
technical assistance from DAHP or the City?

Yes Yes

Will listing affect senior and disabled property tax reductions? No No

Will listing be a factor in property valuation by King County? No No

Will listing affect home-owner’s insurance? No No
Will my house have to be open to the public or tours? No No

Presenter
Presentation Notes
This slide provides a list of frequently asked questions about what it means to be in a National Register historic district. 
Listing to the National Register is honorary and design review is not involved. 
National Register listing does not protect buildings from demolition. 
Property owners within the district can object to listing on the National Register by submitting written statements accepting declarations of penalty of perjury to the State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation. 





INCENTIVES
SPECIAL VALUATION, FEDERAL TAX CREDITS, 
DAHP TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE
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Presentation Notes
There are several incentives available for National Register historic districts. 



WHAT IS AVAILABLE?
Incentive Contributing 

within 
historic 
district

Income 
producing

Design 
review

Expenditure 
threshold as % of 
building value

Eligible applicant

Special Valuation Yes No Yes 25% Owner
Federal Historic 
Tax Credits

Yes Yes Yes 100% Owner

Sivinski Grant Yes No Yes N/A Community group, 
religious organizations, 
Most Endangered 
Places property 
owners

Preservation 
Special Projects 
4Culture

The district as 
a group

N/A N/A N/A Community group

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Special valuation is a property tax reduction benefit tied to work done on buildings, though they do not need to be income producing, it does require design review.

The Federal Historic Tax Credits are also tied to work done specifically on commercial buildings and do require design review. 

The Sivinski Grant and Preservation Special Projects grants are available to community groups to support work, planning, educational, and interpretive efforts. 

Special Valuation is the key program that is available to non-income producing residential properties. This program was established in 1985 by the State Legislature and allows a "special valuation" for certain historic properties within the state. The primary benefit of the law is that during the ten-year special valuation period, property taxes will not reflect substantial improvements made to properties that are eligible for special valuation, and designates a local review board that reviews applications. 

There is also the community benefit to National Register designation. First of all, the process of researching and documenting the neighborhood identifies its history – both positive and negative aspects – which helps residents understand how and why their neighborhood developed. 
We also believe supporting historic neighborhoods and their building stock encourages communities to retain and use their existing resources in established neighborhoods. 



WHAT’S NEXT
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES NOMINATION
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We have a series of next steps as part of nominating the National Register historic district. 



NEXT STEPS

2nd Public meeting

Dec, 2021

DAHP Final submittal

17 Dec. 2021

WA-ACHP meeting

25 Mar. 2022

NPS review

Spring/Summer 2022

Potential listing

Fall/Winter 2022

www.historicwallingford.org/NRHP-north/

Presenter
Presentation Notes
The final submittal to the State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation will be in December of 2021.
We are working through edits. 
We are hoping to get on the agenda for the March 2022 Washington Advisory Council on Historic Preservation meeting.
This would put National Park Service review and potential listing by the Fall/Winter of 2022.

Please visit historicwallingford.org for updates and additional resources and information.

With that, we have closing remarks from Rhonda with Historic Wallingford and then we will go into the question-and-answer period.
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